IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

No. 17-0476

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Appellee,

vs.

JOHN NESS  
Appellant

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR WOODBURY COUNTY, IOWA  
THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY JARMAN, DISTRICT JUDGE

---

APPELLANT'S AMENDED BRIEF

---

ZACHARY S. HINDMAN  
MAYNE, ARNESON, HINDMAN, HISEY & DAANE  
701 Pierce Street, Suite 300  
P. O. Box 1678  
Sioux City, IA 51102-1678  
Telephone: (712)277-1434  
Facsimile: (712) 255-8049  
e-mail: zhindman@iabar.org

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

### **I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE, DURING NESS'S JURY TRIAL, THE RESULTS OF A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST.**

*Bernau v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 580 N.W.2d 757, 761 (Iowa 1998)  
*Gavlock v. Coleman*, 493 N.W.2d 94, 96-97 (Iowa 1992)  
*Graber v. City of Ankeny*, 616 N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 2000)  
*Harmon v. State*, 809 A.2d 696 (Md. Ct. App. 2002)  
*McGlothlin v. State*, No. 06-1246, 2007 Iowa App. Lexis 918 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 22, 2007)  
*State v. Albrecht*, 657 N.W.2d 474, 479 (Iowa 2003)  
*State v. Calvert*, No. 10-0663, 2011 Iowa App. Lexis 251, at \*8 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 30, 2011)  
*State v. Demaray*, 704 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 2005)  
*State v. Deshaw*, 404 N.W.2d 156, 158 (Iowa 1987)  
*State v. Doerr*, 599 N.W.2d 897 (Wisc. Ct. App. 1999)  
*State v. Hearn*, 797 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2011)  
*State v. Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997)  
*State v. Massick*, 511 N.W.2d 384, 388 (Iowa 1994)  
*State v. Rolling*, No. 04-0128, 2005 Iowa App. Lexis 256 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2005)  
*State v. Thompson*, 815 N.W.2d 55, 60 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012)  
*State v. Zell*, 491 N.W.2d 196, 197 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)  
*United Fire & Cas. Co. v. Acker*, 542 N.W.2d 517, 519 (Iowa 1995)  
*Williams v. Hedican*, 561 N.W.2d 817, 822 (Iowa 1997)  
Iowa Code § 321J.1(8)  
Iowa Code § 321J.5  
Iowa Code § 801.4(11)  
Md. Code. Transp. § 16-205.2  
Iowa R. Evid. 5.701  
Iowa R. Evid. 5.702

### **II. WHETHER, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, NESS'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT PROPERLY TO THE RESULTS OF A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST.**

*Anderson v. Atty Gen.*, 425 F.3d 853, 859 (10th Cir. 2005)  
*Baldwin v. Adams*, 899 F. Supp. 2d 889, 904 (N.D. Cal. 2012)

*Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 143 (Iowa 2001)  
*Murtishaw v. Woodford*, 255 F.3d 926, 951 (9th Cir. 2001)  
*State v. Clay*, 824 N.W.2d 488, 500-01  
*State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W.2d 260, 266 (Iowa 2010)  
*State v. Madsen*, 813 N.W.2d 714, 725 (Iowa 2012)  
*State v. Philo*, 697 N.W.2d 481, 485 (Iowa 2005)  
*State v. Schoelerman*, 315 N.W.2d 67, 72 (Iowa 1982)  
*State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2006)  
*State v. Tate*, 710 N.W.2d 237, 239 (Iowa 2006)  
*State v. Tejada*, 677 N.W.2d 744, 754 (Iowa 2004)  
*Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984)  
*Thomas v. Varner*, 428 F.3d 491, 499 (3d Cir. 2005)  
*United States v. Graves*, 951 F. Supp. 2d 758, 766 (E.D. Pa. 2013)  
Iowa Code § 321J.5

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The question whether the exclusionary rule set forth in Iowa Code § 321J.5, which rule declares that the results of a preliminary breath test are inadmissible, is applicable even where the law enforcement officer who administered a PBT claims to have done so not as part of an OWI investigation but rather as part of an investigation of whether the subject of that test violated his probation, presents a substantial issue of first impression, which has never been resolved in a published case, pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2)(c). This appeal should therefore be retained by the Supreme Court.



## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case:** This is an appeal by the Defendant-Appellant, John Ness, from the judgment and conviction entered in the Iowa District Court for Woodbury County, following a jury trial. *Cf.* Order of Disposition at 1, App'x at 67. Ness was convicted of Operating While Intoxicated – Third Offense, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code § 321J.2. The district court sentenced Ness to an indeterminate term of incarceration not to exceed five years, for assignment to the OWI continuum pursuant to Iowa Code § 321J.2(5)(a)(1). *See* Order of Disposition at 1, App'x at 67. The district court further assessed a fine of \$3,125, plus surcharges and court costs; ordered that Ness complete Drinker Driver School; ordered that Ness obtain a substance abuse evaluation and comply with all recommendations of that evaluation for twelve months; and revoked Ness's driving privileges for six years pursuant to Iowa Code § 321J.4(4). *See* Order of Disposition at 1-2, App'x at 67-68.

**Course of Proceedings Before the District Court:** On July 27, 2016, the State charged Ness by trial information with Operating While Intoxicated – Third Offense, in violation of Iowa Code § 321J.2, a class D felony. *See* Trial Information at 1, App'x at 29. Ness entered a plea of not guilty on August 8, 2018. *See* Written Arraignment at 1, App'x at 30.

On February 8, 2017, the State filed a pretrial brief raising the issue that is central to this appeal. *Cf.* State's Pre-Trial Brief at 1, App'x at 45. In that brief, the State argued that the results of a preliminary breath test administered to Ness by Ness's probation officer should be admissible at Ness's jury trial. *See* State's Pre-Trial Brief at 2-3, App'x at 46-47.

The district court took up the admissibility of the results of the preliminary breath test at a pretrial conference held on February 15, 2017. *See* PTC Tr. at 1-2. At the pretrial conference, Ness, through counsel, resisted the State's contention that the PBT results were admissible. *See* PTC Tr. at 3-9. The district court, in an order entered on February 20, 2017, ruled that the results of the PBT would be admissible at Ness's jury trial. *See* Order (Feb. 20, 2017) at 1-2, App'x at 50-51.

A one-day jury trial was held on February 28, 2017. *See* Trial Tr. at 1. The jury returned a verdict the same day, finding Ness guilty of Operating While Intoxicated. *See* Verdict Form at 1, App'x at 56.

A sentencing hearing was held on March 23, 2017. *See* Sent. Tr. at 1. The district court sentenced Ness to an indeterminate term of incarceration not to exceed five years, for assignment to the OWI continuum pursuant to Iowa Code § 321J.2(5)(a)(1). *See* Order of Disposition at 1, App'x at 67. The district court further assessed a fine of \$3,125, plus surcharges and

court costs; ordered that Ness complete Drinker Driver School; ordered that Ness obtain a substance abuse evaluation and comply with all recommendations of that evaluation for twelve months; and revoked Ness's driving privileges for six years pursuant to Iowa Code § 321J.4(4). *See* Order of Disposition at 1-2, App'x at 67-68.

Ness timely appealed. *See* Notice of Appeal. App'x at 70.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellant John Ness was, at the time of his arrest on the Operating While Intoxicated charge at issue in this appeal, being supervised by probation officer Nick O'Brien. Trial Tr. at 36-37. On the day of Ness's arrest, he was scheduled to meet with the probation officer at 1:30 p.m., at the probation office. Trial Tr. at 38.

The probation officer testified during trial that, on the day of Ness's arrest, the officer arrived at the probation office between 1:10 p.m. and 1:15 p.m. Trial Tr. at 38. When he arrived there, he saw Ness drive his vehicle into the parking lot that the probation building makes available for probationers. Trial Tr. at 38. The probation officer met Ness at the stairs to the probation building. Trial Tr. at 39.

At that point, according to the probation officer, he and Ness had a conversation. Trial Tr. at 39. The probation officer testified that he detected "a strong odor of alcohol coming from Mr. Ness's person." Trial Tr. at 39. Other than that, however, Ness's behavior during this encounter did not seem out of the ordinary for him. Trial Tr. at 41-42. The probation officer testified that this concerned him, because one of the conditions of Ness's probation prohibited him from consuming alcohol, and because Ness "got out of a vehicle." Trial Tr. at 39. The State played for the jury a video

that showed Ness driving up to the probation office. *See* Trial Tr. at 40; *accord* Ex. 1 – Video from Probation Office.

The probation officer had Ness take a seat in the lobby of the probation office, so the officer could “staff the issue” with his supervisor. Trial Tr. at 42. The officer obtained an “alcohol screening device” – an Alco-Sensor III – from his supervisor’s office. Trial Tr. at 43-44. The probation officer asked Ness whether he had consumed alcohol, and Ness denied that he had. Trial Tr. at 43. The probation officer administered a breath test on the alcohol screening device. Trial Tr. at 43-44. The probation officer was allowed to testify, over Ness’s objection raised and finally resolved before trial, that the result of the alcohol screening device test was .130. Trial Tr. at 44; *cf.* PTC Tr. at 9-14. The probation officer further testified that, after being confronted with the test results, Ness stated that he thought he had sobered up enough to drive to his probation appointment. Trial Tr. at 45.

The probation officer testified that the Sioux City Police Department was contacted, because “of the significant level of alcohol in [Ness’s] system and the fact that he drove” to the probation office. Trial Tr. at 46. Ness was transported by a police officer to the Woodbury County Jail, but no further OWI investigation was performed. Trial Tr. at 53-54. Ness was then booked into the Woodbury County Jail. Trial Tr. at 59-61. The

booking officer testified, and her report indicated, that she had asked Ness whether he was intoxicated and he responded that he was, *see* Trial Tr. at 60-61, *accord* Ex. 5 – Booking Sheet, App’x at 112; but the booking was recorded on video, and in a review of that video Ness’s purported statement that he was intoxicated is not audible. *Cf.* Ex. 6 – Booking Video.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE, DURING NESS’S JURY TRIAL, THE RESULTS OF A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

At the final pretrial conference, Ness argued, through counsel that the PBT results were inadmissible, for a number of reasons, including that the PBT results should be excluded under the implied consent statute. *See* PTC Tr. at 8-9. The district court expressly considered this issue, and made a final ruling as to the admissibility of the PBT result over that particular objection, in a written order entered following the pretrial conference. *See* Order and Rulings on Pretrial Matters at 1-2, App’x at 50-51; *accord State v. Schaer*, 757 N.W.2d 630, 634 (Iowa 2008) (where district court conclusively overrules, in limine, a particular objection, the proponent of that objection need not renew it when the evidence is offered in order to preserve error on that same objection).

#### **Standard of Review**

This Court generally reviews evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion. *Williams v. Hedican*, 561 N.W.2d 817, 822 (Iowa 1997). An abuse of discretion occurs when a court exercises its discretion “on grounds or for reasons clearly untenable or to an extent clearly unreasonable.” *State v.*

*Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997). “A ground or reason is untenable when it is not supported by substantial evidence or when it is based on an erroneous application of the law.” *Graber v. City of Ankeny*, 616 N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 2000).

This Court reviews questions of statutory interpretation for errors at law.

*State v. Hearn*, 797 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2011).

### **Argument**

The district court erred by admitting, in Appellant John Ness’s jury trial on a charge of Operating While Intoxicated, the results of a preliminary breath test administered by his probation officer after his probation officer saw Ness drive to the probation office for a meeting and believed that Ness had been drinking. In particular, the district court erroneously interpreted Iowa Code § 321J.5 as not excluding the PBT results in this case. Thus, since the appellate courts in this State have held that the admission of PBT results into evidence is reversible error, this Court should reverse Ness’s OWI conviction, and remand for a new trial.

#### **A. The PBT Evidence.**

Before the district court, the State proffered the following as the PBT result evidence that it intended to offer at trial:

As part of his probation, Mr. Ness was given a chemical test on the Alco-Sensor III (ASIII). The result of the Defendant’s



chemical test was .130% BAC. The Defendant admitted to driving and reported that he thought he had sobered up prior to coming to his appointment. The Sioux City Police Department was contacted and the Defendant was arrested for public intoxication under Iowa Code 123.46. The Defendant was subsequently also charged with Operating While Intoxicated stemming from the same incident.

State's Pretrial Brief at 1-2, App'x at 45-46.

The evidence concerning the PBT and its results – offered after the district court's ruling, described below, that this evidence was admissible over Ness's objection – came by way of testimony by Ness's probation officer. The probation officer testified that, at about 1:15 p.m. on the day of Ness's arrest, the officer observed Ness drive up to the probation office, and park his vehicle in the office's parking lot. Trial Tr. at 38. The probation officer testified that he met Ness at the stairs to the probation office building's door, and that when he encountered Ness, he detected a strong odor of alcohol coming from Ness's person. Trial Tr. at 39. The probation officer thereafter told Ness to have a seat in the lobby. Trial Tr. at 42.

In describing his course of conduct after he first encountered Ness prior to Ness's arrest, the probation officer testified: "More or less I wanted him to have a seat and I needed to go staff the issue with my supervisor since I had observed him driving a vehicle and had concerns he was using alcohol." Trial Tr. at 42. Ness's probation officer further testified that, when he left

to staff the matter with his supervisor, he had Ness sit in the lobby and told the receptionist that his “suspicion was [Ness] was under the influence of alcohol.” Trial Tr. at 42-43.

Ness’s probation explained that he “got the alcohol screening device from [his] supervisor’s office because [he] needed to confirm whether or not Mr. Ness was using alcohol.” Trial Tr. at 43. The probation officer testified that he administered the test, and obtained a BAC result of .130. Trial Tr. at 44. And the probation officer testified that, after he obtained a positive PBT result, he told Ness that “the bigger concern” was “that he chose to drive after using alcohol.” Trial Tr. at 45.

Finally, the probation officer confirmed that, after obtaining the PBT result, the Sioux City Police Department was contacted both because of how high the result was, “and the fact that [Ness] drove there” to the probation office. Trial Tr. at 46.

### **B. The Parties’ Arguments.**

The parties presented arguments to the district court, prior to trial, about whether the PBT results were admissible.

The State filed a pretrial brief on the issue. In the brief, the State argued as follows:

Implied consent law is not the exclusive means by which the State may obtain chemical test evidence from a Defendant in an

Operating While Intoxicated proceeding. *See* Iowa Code Section 321J.18. (“This chapter does not limit the introduction of any competent evidence bearing on the question of whether a person was under the influence of an alcoholic beverage . . .”). In this case, the officer did not invoke the implied consent procedures, and consequently, we do not judge the admissibility of any chemical test under the standards applicable to the implied consent standards. *State v. Demaray*, 704 N.W.2d 60, 64, 2005 WL 2319238 (Iowa 2005). Instead, the chemical test was obtained through probationary procedures. As part of the Defendant’s probation, he is not to consume any alcohol. Thus, we turn to the standard described in section 321J.18, which requires evidence obtained outside the implied consent law to be “competent,” as well as the general standards governing waiver and release under state law.

*Id.* When the Defendant arrived at his probation appointment, probation officer O’Brien administered to the Defendant the Alco-Sensor III. The Alco-Sensor III (ASIII) is a handheld breath alcohol tester approved by the National Highway and Traffic Safety Administration (75 FR 11624-01) and recognized by the Iowa Commissioner of Public Safety under Iowa Administrative Code Sections 123.46, 661-157(5), 661-157(6) and the Department of Criminal Investigations website – <https://breathalcohol.iowa.gov/pages/devices/pdt>. The Defendant’s result was .130% BAC. The Defendant was arrested for public intoxication under Iowa Code 123.46. After further review of the video evidence, just prior to his probation appointment, the Defendant is seen operating a motor vehicle in the Department of Corrections parking lot. The Defendant has now subsequently been charged with Operating While Intoxicated stemming from the same incident. The Defendant is not charged under the implied consent laws and therefore the introduction of the chemical test result in this case falls under Iowa Code Section 321J.18 as competent evidence and should not be barred from use at trial.

State’s Pretrial Br. at 2-3, App’x at 45-46.

At the pretrial conference, Ness, through counsel, objected to the admission of the PBT results, on a number of grounds. As relevant to this appeal, Ness's trial counsel argued against the State's contention that the use of the PBT here did not trigger the "implied consent" statute that requires the exclusion of PBT results. *See* PTC Tr. at 7-9.

### **C. The District Court's Ruling.**

The district court, in a written order entered before trial, ruled that the results of the PBT were admissible over Ness's objections. The district court wrote:

Next, the court must address the issue of the Alco-Sensor III test given to the defendant by a probation officer. The test result indicated that the defendant had a breath-alcohol concentration of .130. The defense resists the admission of any evidence related to the Alco-Sensor test, particularly the test result. The state seeks to introduce evidence of the test and the result at trial of this matter.

The Alco-Sensor III device is often used as a preliminary breath screening device by law enforcement in the course of an Operating While Intoxicated investigation. When used as a "preliminary breath test" (PBT) under the implied consent law, the results of the PBT cannot normally be introduced into evidence at trial.

However, the implied consent law (Section 321J.6) was not implicated in this case. The Alco-Sensor was not used for the purpose of a preliminary breath screening test. Instead, it was used by a probation officer to confirm his belief that the defendant was intoxicated when he appeared for a probation appointment.

Under these circumstances, the court finds that the use of and the test result obtained by the Alco-Sensor may be offered and admitted into evidence if the state provides the proper foundation for the device and the use of the device. This would include more than evidence that the probation officer was properly trained in its use. The state will need to provide qualified evidence as to the theory of operation of the device and the meaning of the test result. Since this case is not charged under the theory of a breath or blood alcohol level over the legal limit, the Alco-Sensor result cannot be introduced to indicate that the defendant is guilty of OWI because his level was over the legal limit.

Order and Rulings on Pretrial Matters at 1-2, App'x at 50-51.

#### **D. Analysis.**

The district court erred by admitting the PBT evidence at issue here. The PBT evidence is inadmissible both under the plain text of Iowa Code § 321J.5, and according to this Court's interpretation of § 321J.5. Admitting the PBT evidence here is also contrary to the purpose of § 321J.5. And, even apart from § 321J.5's prohibition on the admission of PBT evidence like the evidence here, the PBT evidence is inadmissible under Iowa Rule of Evidence 702, because of what the unreliability of such evidence as long recognized by the appellate courts in this State.

1. First, the district court's ruling that the PBT result here was admissible over Ness's objection is inconsistent with the text of Iowa Code section 321J.5. That code section provides that:

1. When a peace officer has reasonable grounds to believe that either of the following have occurred, the peace officer may request that the operator provide a sample of the operator's breath for a preliminary screening test using a device approved by the commissioner of public safety for that purpose:

a. A motor vehicle operator may be violating or has violated section 321J.2 or 321J.2A.

b. The operator has been involved in a motor vehicle collision resulting in injury or death.

2. The results of this preliminary screening test may be used for the purpose of deciding whether an arrest should be made or whether to request a chemical test authorized by this chapter, but shall not be used in any court action except to prove that a chemical test was properly requested of a person pursuant to this chapter.

Iowa Code § 321J.5.

Section 321J.5 applies here, by its terms. As an initial matter, there can be no dispute that Ness's probation officer, who administered the PBT to Ness, is a peace officer. *See* Iowa Code § 321J.1(8) ("Peace officer" means:

a. A member of the state patrol. b. A police officer under civil service as provided in chapter 400. c. A sheriff. d. A regular deputy sheriff who has had formal police training. e. Any other law enforcement officer who has satisfactorily completed an approved course relating to motor vehicle operators under the influence of alcoholic beverages at the Iowa law enforcement academy or a law enforcement training program approved by the department of public safety."); *accord id.* § 801.4(11) ("Peace officers"

include “[p]arole officers acting pursuant to section 906.2,” and “[p]robation officers acting pursuant to section 602.7202, subsection 4, and section 907.2.”). Indeed, the State did not argue before the district court that the probation officer here is not a peace officer; and the district court did not consider or find that the probation officer is not a peace officer.

The remainder of the plain text of § 321J.5 applies here, as well. The probation officer’s testimony at trial makes clear that, when he administered the PBT to Ness, the probation officer “ha[d] reasonable grounds to believe that” Ness “ha[d] violated section 321J.2” – *i.e.*, that Ness had operated a motor vehicle while intoxicated. Indeed, the probation officer’s own testimony indicates even more than the “reasonable grounds” required to trigger § 321J.5 – the probation officer’s primary motivation in administering the PBT was because he believed that Ness was intoxicated while he was operating a motor vehicle. For example, the probation officer testified: “More or less I wanted him to have a seat and I needed to go staff the issue with my supervisor since I had observed him driving a vehicle and had concerns he was using alcohol.” Trial Tr. at 42. The probation officer testified that, after he obtained a positive PBT result, he told Ness that “the bigger concern” was “that he chose to drive after using alcohol.” Trial Tr. at 45. And the probation officer confirmed that, after obtaining the PBT

result, the Sioux City Police Department was contacted both because of how high the result was, “and the fact that [Ness] drove there” to the probation office. Trial Tr. at 46.

Similarly, the probation officer’s testimony makes clear that he believed that the PBT that he administered was a screening test: Ness’s probation explained that he “got the alcohol *screening* device from [his] supervisor’s office because [he] needed to confirm whether or not Mr. Ness was using alcohol.” Trial Tr. at 43 (emphasis added).

And the device that the probation officer used to administer the PBT is approved by the commissioner of public safety for the purpose of obtaining a preliminary breath screening, but *not* for obtaining a BAC level for evidentiary use. *See* Iowa Administrative Code 661-157.2(3) (“The division of criminal investigation criminalistics laboratory shall maintain a list of devices approved by the commissioner of public safety for collection of breath samples for evidentiary purposes,” and “[t]he current list shall be available . . . on the Web site of the department of public safety.”); Public Notice of Iowa Department of Public Safety DCI Criminalistics Laboratory (Mar. 31, 2009), [https://breathalcohol.iowa.gov/files/Evidentiary\\_Breath\\_Tests.pdf](https://breathalcohol.iowa.gov/files/Evidentiary_Breath_Tests.pdf) (“Pursuant to the authority of Iowa Code sections 321J.11 and 321J.15, and in accordance with 661 Iowa Administrative Code



157.2(321J), the following devices are approved for use in the State of Iowa in conducting evidentiary tests of breath samples for the purpose of establishing whether a person is intoxicated: . . . Datamaster DMT . . . [and] Datamaster cdm,” and no mention of the Alco-Sensor III); *cf.* Iowa Administrative Code 661-157.5(1) (“A peace officer desiring to perform a *preliminary screening test* of a person’s breath shall use a device approved by the division of criminal investigation criminalistics laboratory,” and “[t]he list of approved devices is available on the Web site of the department”); Department of Criminal Investigations Approved *PBT* List, <https://breathalcohol.iowa.gov/pages/devices/pbt> (listing Alco-Sensor III).

Thus, since the PBT administered by the probation officer here to Ness “shall not be used in any court action except to prove that a chemical test was properly requested of a person pursuant to this chapter.” Iowa Code § 321J.5(2). In particular, the exclusionary rule set forth in § 321J.5(2) contains no exceptions that would allow admission into evidence of the results of a test like the one administered here.

And this Court should reject the district court’s reasoning to the contrary, for several reasons. The district court concluded that § 321J.5 excludes the results of an Alco-Sensor III test only when the device is used as a preliminary screening device in the course of an OWI investigation.

*See* Order and Rulings on Pretrial Matters at 1-2, App’x at 50-51. But that is simply not so. Rather, § 321J.5 excludes such results where the officer who administers the test “has reasonable grounds to believe” that an OWI has occurred. In other words, according to the plain text of § 321J.5, the question is not, as the district court believed, whether the administering officer *intends* to be investigating an OWI at the time when he administers the test; but rather whether the investigating officer *reasonably believes*, at the time when he administers the test, that an OWI may have been committed.

The reason for this distinction is obvious. If the law were what the district court concluded it is, then in every case where an officer administered a PBT to someone suspected of OWI, the officer could claim that he administered it only as part of an investigation or whether the suspect had committed public intoxication, and then later – after administration of the test – announce that his investigation was changing into an OWI investigation. In such a case, if the district court’s interpretation of § 321J.5 is correct, the PBT results would be admissible. The same would be true any time an investigating officer determined that an OWI suspect was on probation or parole – the officer could claim that he administered the PBT only to investigate whether the suspect had violated

the terms of his parole or probation, and then – under the district court’s reasoning here – the PBT results would be admissible.

Moreover, even were the district court correct in holding that the subjective intent of the officer administering the PBT, as to what exactly the officer is investigating at the particular moment of investigation, is determinative of whether the PBT results are admissible, the PBT still would be inadmissible here. This is so because the probation officer’s own testimony revealed that his intent, at the time when he administered the test, absolutely was to investigate whether Ness had operated his vehicle while intoxicated. In particular, he probation officer testified that, after he obtained a positive PBT result, he told Ness that “the bigger concern” was “that he chose to drive after using alcohol.” Trial Tr. at 45. The probation officer also testified that, after obtaining the PBT result, the Sioux City Police Department was contacted both because of how high the result was, “and the fact that [Ness] drove there” to the probation office. Trial Tr. at 46.

Accordingly, the PBT results here were inadmissible under the plain text of § 321J.5(2).

2. Second, the only interpretation of § 321J.5 that is consistent with the prior decisions of the appellate courts of this State is one that renders

inadmissible the PBT results at issue here. Those decisions recognize that PBT results are inadmissible, and mention no limitations on or exceptions to that rule. *See, e.g., State v. Massick*, 511 N.W.2d 384, 388 (Iowa 1994) (the results of a preliminary breath test are inadmissible); *State v. Deshaw*, 404 N.W.2d 156, 158 (Iowa 1987) (evidence that the result of a preliminary breath test indicated the presence of alcohol is reversible error).

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