IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-0476

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JOHN WILLIAM NESS,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WOODBURY COUNTY
THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY JARMAN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

GENEVIEVE REINKOESTER
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
genevieve.reinkoester@iowa.gov

PATRICK JENNINGS
Woodbury County Attorney

JACKLYN FOX
MARK CAMPBELL
Assistant County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

AMENDED FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ADMISSION OF DEFENDANT'S PBT RESULT WAS HARMLESS, AND THERE WAS NO REASONABLE PROBABILITY OF A DIFFERENT RESULT AT TRIAL.

Preservation of Error

On appeal, Defendant argues that the result of the PBT administered by probation officer O'Brien should not have been admitted at trial because Iowa Code section 321J.5 precludes the use of these results. Defendant did not make this same argument to the district court. Instead, prior to trial, prosecutors filed a brief that

sought a ruling from the district court that allowed them to introduce the PBT result at trial. 02-08-2017 Brief; App.45–47. Defendant did not file a written resistance.

The district court addressed the prosecutor’s brief at the final pretrial conference. Defendant objected to the use of the PBT result for two reasons: 1. Defendant believed the probative value of the evidence did not outweigh its prejudice, and 2. Defendant stated O’Brien was not sufficiently trained to operate a PBT. Pretrial Conf. Tr. 3:1–14, 4:14–7:2. These arguments are not the same arguments Defendant advances on appeal.

During trial, Defendant did not object to the introduction of the PBT result. Trial Tr. 43:16–45:8. Defendant failed to argue to the district court that section 321J.5 precluded the use of the PBT result or to obtain a ruling on such a claim, and he has not preserved this claim for appeal. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012) (citing *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 540 (Iowa 2002)) (holding error is preserved when “the court’s ruling indicates that the court considered the issue and necessarily ruled on it....”).

Defendant recognizes that this argument may not be preserved for appeal. App. Br. pg. 38–39. However, he asks this Court to

consider his claim under the rubric of ineffective assistance of counsel because such a claim is an exception to the normal error preservation rules. *State v. Begey*, 672 N.W.2d 747, 749 (Iowa 2003).

Standard of Review

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. *State v. Liddell*, 672 N.W.2d 805, 809 (Iowa 2003) (citing *Stallings*, 658 N.W.2d at 108). Appellate review for evidentiary rulings is for an abuse of discretion. *Hutchison v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.* 514 N.W.2d 882, 885 (Iowa 1994).

Merits

A. Legal Test for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, “a defendant must typically show that (1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty and (2) prejudice resulted.” *State v. Keller*, 760 N.W.2d 451, 452 (Iowa 2009) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). Both elements must be proven, and failure to prove either element is fatal to the claim. “If the claim lacks prejudice, it can be decided on that ground alone without deciding whether the attorney performed deficiently.” *Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 142 (Iowa 2001)

(internal string citation omitted). Here, Defendant's claim can be decided on the prejudice prong alone.

B. Because Defendant Failed to Prove a Reasonable Likelihood of a Different Result at Trial, He has Failed to Show He was Prejudiced.

Defendant was charged under Iowa Code section 321J.2(1)(a) under the theory that he was operating a motor vehicle “[w]hile under the influence of an alcoholic beverage or other drug or a combination of such substances.” Iowa Code § 321J.2(1)(a). This charge has two elements: 1) Defendant must have operated a motor vehicle; and 2) Defendant must have done so while under the influence of alcohol or another drug. *Id.*; *see also* Jury Instr. No. 11; App. 54. Defendant does not contest that he operated a motor vehicle. The only question for the jury was whether Defendant was under the influence of alcohol at the time.

A person is “under the influence” when at least one of the following is true because of alcohol consumption: 1) the person’s reasoning or mental ability is affected; 2) the person’s judgment is impaired; 3) the person’s emotions are visibly excited; or 4) the person, to any extent, loses control of bodily actions or motions. *State v. Dominguez*, 482 N.W.2d 390, 392 (Iowa 1992), *see also* Jury Instr.

No. 13; App. 55. Conduct and demeanor are important considerations in evaluating whether a person is under the influence. *State v. Price*, 692 N.W.2d 1, 3 (Iowa 2005). A person's manner of driving also pertains to whether he or she is under the influence. *Dominguez*, 482 N.W.2d at 392. Any one of these factors on its own can suffice to support an inference that a person is under the influence. *Id.*

Here, all four factors strongly support the inference that Defendant was under the influence. The witnesses testified that Defendant smelled strongly of alcohol, had bloodshot, watery eyes, slurred his speech, continuously changed the volume of his voice while talking, and was unsteady on his feet. In addition, Defendant twice admitted to consuming alcohol. First, he stated to probation officer O'Brien that he had been drinking the night before, but believed he was sober enough to drive. Second, while being booked into the county jail, Defendant acknowledged he was intoxicated and signed the booking sheet, affirming he was intoxicated. This was overwhelming evidence that Defendant was intoxicated, and the jury was free to interpret this evidence as proof that Defendant was under the influence when he drove to his probation appointment.

C. If the Record is Not Sufficient to Decide Defendant's Claim of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel on Direct Appeal, His Claim Should Be Denied so He May Bring a Post-Conviction Relief Action.

While Defendant's trial counsel did not object to the introduction of the PBT result under Iowa Code section 321J.5, he did object to the introduction of this result based on its prejudicial nature and based on whether the test had been administered properly. If the Court believes it is possible that trial counsel made a deliberate, strategic choice regarding the objections he did make regarding the PBT result, Defendant's claim should be denied to allow trial counsel the opportunity to testify in a post-conviction relief action regarding his strategic trial choices. *State v. Truesdell*, 679 N.W.2d 611, 616 (Iowa 2004) (internal citation omitted) (finding ineffective assistance of counsel claim would be "best resolved by postconviction proceedings to enable a complete record to be developed and afford trial counsel an opportunity to respond to the claim.").

D. Alternatively, if Defendant Did Preserve His Evidentiary Claim, Any Admission of the PBT Result was Harmless Error.

If the Court finds Defendant preserved his current argument—which the State strenuously denies—his claim still fails because the

district court's decision to admit the result of his PBT amounts to harmless error. "Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected...." Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a). Thus, Rule 5.103(a) requires a harmless error analysis when nonconstitutional error is alleged. *State v. Newell*, 710 N.W.2d 6, 19 (Iowa 2006). "[T]he test for determining whether the evidence was prejudicial and therefore required reversal [is] this: 'Does it sufficiently appear that the rights of the complaining party have been injuriously affected by the error or that he has suffered a miscarriage of justice?'" *State v. Sullivan*, 679 N.W.2d 19, 29 (Iowa 2004) (internal citation omitted). Prejudice is presumed unless the contrary is affirmatively established. *Id.* Based on the level of proof presented at trial—as outlined above—any error was non-prejudicial, and this Court should affirm. *See Newell*, 710 N.W.2d at 19–20 ("This court has held...that no prejudice will be found where the evidence in support of the defendant's guilt is overwhelming."). Based on a totality of the record, Defendant did not suffer a miscarriage of justice as a result of this evidentiary ruling.

CONCLUSION